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BEF.ORE THE ADMINISTRATOR -,. ''.' ;,..,1, i',: i;:i',- S ilt i.ii.l

IN THE MATTER OF'

KEENHOLD ASSOCIATES. ET AL..

Respondcnts,

)
)
) DOCKET No. TSCA-03-2007-0084
)
)

DE,FAULT ORDER AND INITIAL DECISION

This proceeding u'as instituted on March 30,2001, by the Director of the Waste and
Chemicals Management Division, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region III
("Complainant" or "EPA"), pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Toxio Substances Control Act
(TSCA),15 U.S,C. $ 2615(a). The Complaint alleges in 28 counts that the five named
Respondents - Keenhold Associates, Richzud E. Keenhold, Sr.. Richard E. Keenhold. Jr.. Rosalie
Keenhold and Danny Keenhold, in various combinations - committed a total of 56 violations of
Section 409 ofTSCA, 15 U.S.C. g 2689, Section 1018 ofthe Rcsidential Lcad-Based Painr
Hazard Reduction Act of 1992 (the "Act"), 42 U.S.C. $ 4852d, and the Federal regulations
promulgated thereunder, codified at 40 C.F.R. Parl745. Subpart F (the "Disclosure Rule").
Specifically, the Complaint alleges that one or more ol'the Respondents as named orjointly
trading as "Boro Coal," own six residential dwellings idcntified as 45 8'h Street, Wind Gap,
Pennsvlvania: 250 Broadway Street, Wind Gap. Pennsylvalia; 403-C and 403-D Lamp Light
Estates. Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania; 606-608 Nofihampton, Easton, Pennsylvania; and Lot 29
I{ill Top Acres in Saylorsburg, Pennsylvania. The Complaint alleges iurther that those dwellings
were constructed prior to 1978; that Respondents, as "lessors" and "owners," entered into a total
of seven written leases for the dwellings through their "agent," Respondent Keenhold Associates;
that the dwellings are "target housing;" and that Respondents failed 1o make the legally required
disclosures concerning lead based paint to their prospective lessees.' T'he Complaint proposes

1ln briel, Counts 1-7 allege that Respondents as Lcssors failed to include in each ofthe seveh
leascs a Lead Warning Statement in violation of 40 C.F.R. $ 7a5.113(b)(1); Counts 8- 14 allege that
Respondents as Lessors failed to include in each ofthe seven leases a lead-based paint disclosure
statementtn violationof40 C.l'.R. 6 745.113(bX2);Counts 15-2 i allege that Respondents as Lessors
failed to include in each ofthe seven leascs a list ofavailable records or reports provided on lead-
based paint in the premises in violation of40 C.F.R. $ 7a5.113(b)(3);and Counrs 22-28 allege that
Respondents as Lessors failed to include in the seven leases an alfirmation of receipt of the lead
hazard information pamphlet in violation of 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(bX4) In addition. for each such

(con t i nued .  .  .  )



that an aggregate penalty of$20;800 be imposed against the Respondents for their violations.

On or about May 31, 2007, Respondents, through counsel, jointly filed an Answer to the
Complaint. In their Answer, I{espondents denied that one ofthe properties at issue (606-608
Northampton Street) was residential and thus subject to the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 745.
Respondents otherwise admitted that "Respondent Agent" Keenhold Associates entered into the
various leases and that it, and they. as "Respondent Lessors," failed to ',initially,, provide the
alleged notificatior.rs and disclosures as required. Hon'ever, Respondents asserted that they
immediately came into compliance upon being advised by EPA of the requirement to do so.
Respondents further requested a hearing on the matter. On or about June 13, 2007 , the Regional
Ilearing Clerk refered thc case to the Office of Administrative Law Judses (OAL,.I) for the
purposes of assigning a presiding judge for hearing.

Thereafter, the parties were oi'fered, and accepted, an opportunity to participate in OALJ's
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) process. The parties participated in ADR from June 30,
2007 until August 30, 2007, when the Neutral Judge reported that settlement efIbfis had been
unsuccessful. Thereafter, the undersigned was designated to preside ovcr this matter.

On September 10. 2007, the undersigncd issued a Prehearing Order requiring the
Complainant to ille its Initial Prehearing Exchange on or before September 28, 2007;
Respondents to file their Initial Prehearing Exchange(s) on or before October 12, 2007; and
permilting Complainant to file a rebuttal prehearing exchange on or before October 26,2007 .
The Prehearins Order furlher statcd:

The Respondents are hereby notified that their failurc to either comply with
the prehearing exchange requirements set forth herein or to state that they
are elccting only to conduct cross-examination of the Complainant's
witnesses can result in the entry of a default judgment against them,

Prchearing Order of Scptember 10, 2007 at 4-5 (bold in onginal;.

In accordance with the Prehearing Order, on September 28,2007, Complainant filed its
Initial Prehearing Exchange, identifying one witness and 24 exhibits (hereinafter cited as "C's
Ex,_") as well as providing other inlbrmation responsive to the Prehearing Ordcr.

On October 1, 2007. counsel for Resoondents filed a Notice of Withdrawal of

i ( . . . con t l nued )

violation the Complaint also includcs as Counts 1A-28A a corollary violation against Respondent
Keenhold Associates as the I-essors' "Agent" for failing to assure their compliance with the
aforementioned regulatory requirements in violation of40 C.F.R g 745. t 15(a)(2) .



Appearance."

On October 12,2007, Complainant filed a Motion for Extension of Time to file its
Rebuttal Prehearing Exchange noting that none of the Respondents had filed a prehearing
Exchange in accordance q'ith the Prehearing Order. Additionally, Complainant notcd that it had
been advised that Respondenl, Keenhold Associates. a Pennsylvania parlnership, hacl filed for
bankruptcl , '

In response to this Motion and the Respondents' failure to file their prehearing exchanges
or otherw'ise respond to re Prehearing order, on october 16, 2007, the undersigned issued an
order to Show cause and order Granting Motion for Extension of rime. That order required
that, on or before october 31,200'7, Respondents show good cause w.hy they failed to submit
their Prehearing Exchanges in a timely manner and "u'hy a default should not be entered against
[them in] accordance rvith 40 c.F.R. I 22.17(a)." The order also advised Respondents that it
t'as well established that filing a Petition for Bankruptcy under chapter I I of the Bankruptcy
Code (11 U.S.C. $ 362(bX4)) did not stay an administrative penalry action seeking entry of
judgment for past violations of environmental regulations.

To date, none cfthe Respondents have responded in any way to the Show Cause Order or
the Prehearing Exchange Order issued by this Tribunal.a

Section 22.17(a) ofthe Consolidated Rules ofPractice provides that:

A patty may be found to be in default: . . . upon failure to comply
with the inlormation exchange requirements of $ 22.19(a) or an
order ofthe Presiding Officer . . . . Default by respondent
constitutes, for purposes of the pending proceeding only, an
admission of all facts alleged in the Complaint and a waiver of
respondent's right to contest such factual allegations. . . .

':The counsel'sNotice also adviscdthat "[a]ll further commrurications to Respondents should
be addressed to Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., Keenhold Associates, 215-A west g'h Street, wind Gap,
Pennsylvania 1 8091 ."

3Coufl records subsequently accessed by this Tribunal confirmed that Keenhold Associates
had filed a Petition under Chapter 1l with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court 1br the Eastern District of
Pennsvlvania on september 18, 200'l (casc no. 0721594), but that the four named individual
Respondents had not.

'The Shou' Cause Order was seryed upon Rcspondents by cerlified mail to the addrcss
indicated in their prior counsel's Notice of Withdrawal, and the return receipt (green card) indicates
that it was received and signed for by "l{. Keenhold" on October 19,200j.



40 C.F.R. g 22,17(a).

Section 22.17(c) of the Consolidated Rules ofPractice provides that:

When the Presiding Officer finds that default has occurred, he shall
issue a default order against the delaulting party as to any or all
pafis ofthe proceeding unless the record shows good cause why a
default order should not be issued. Ifthe order resolves all
outstanding issues and claims in the proceeding, it shall constitute
the initial decision under these Consolidated Rules ofPractice.
The reliefproposed in the complaint or motion for default shall be
ordered unless the requested relief is clearly inconsistent w-ith the
record ofthe proceeding or the Act. . . .

40 C.F.R, $ 22.17(c).

Based upon the Respondents' lailure to respond to the Prehearing Order and Order to
Show Cause issued by the Tribunal, Respondents are hereby lbund to be in defhulr.

The lollorving Findings ofFact and Conclusions ofLaw are based upon the Complarnt.
Respondents' Ansu'er thereto, Complainant's Prehearing Exchange, and other documents of
rccord in the case.

FTI{DINGS OF FACT AND CONCI,US]ONS OF LAW

The Respondents

2.

L Respondent Keenhold Associates is a Pennsylvzrnia partnership with the lbllowing
partners: Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., Danny Keenhold, and Richard E. Keenhold, Jr.
(Complaint tf I 7, Ansrver g 17, C's Ex. 3).

The four individual Respondents - Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., Richard E. Keenhold Jr.,
Rosalie Keenhold, and Danny Keenhold, are related to each olher by blood or marriage.
Richard E,. Keenhold, Sr. is the father of Danny A. Keenhold and Richard E. Keenhold.
Jr.. and Richard E. Keenhold Jr. and Rosalie Keenhold are husband and rvife. (C's Exs.
and l6).

Lease #1 for 45 8'" Street. Wind Garr. Pennsylvania

3. The premises idcntified as 45 8'h Street, Wind Gap, Perrnsylvania is a three bedroom
single family residential housing unit built in or about the year 1900. C's Exs.1a, lb and
A
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4.

5 .

At the time relevant hereto (March 29,2004), Richard E. Keenhold, Jr. was the owner of
45 8'h St., Wind Gap, Pennsylvania C's Exs. lb and 14.5

On or about March 29.2004, Responde nt"Keenhotd Associates PTR"identifred as "the
Owner" entered into a one year written Lease Agreement *'ith a lessee, for the premises
identified as 45 8th Street, Wind Gap, Pennsylvania ("Lease #1"). C's Ex. 1a (italics and
bold in original), Complaint Ji 25, Answer ji 25.6

5This finding is based upon C's Ex.1b, a computer report allegedly generated in regard to the
property from "RealQuest.com" on September 18, 2007, w.hich indicates that since 2002 the
premises have been owned by "Richard E. Keenhold, Jr." I recognize that this finding is inconsistent
rvrlh the Complaint rvhich alleges at fl 20 (Chart) thar the.owner of this property is "Boro Coal," a
trade name used by the four individual Respondents for the purchase ofcertain residential propert-v.
Further, I note that in support of its allegation, Complainanl includes as Ex.l in its Prehearing
Exchange a document it identifies as the "Deed" for 45 8'h Street showing that on September 21,
2004 (after the tran.\action at issue lere) the lbur individual Respondents "t/a Boro Coal" transfered
sonx e property on 8'n Street to "Danny A. Keenhold and Richard E. Keenhold, Jr." However, nothing
in that Deed identifies the property being conveyed therein as number "4J" on 8rh Street and the
evidence ofrccord indicates that Respondents own a number of percels ofproperty situated on 8'h
Street in Wind Gap. Pennsylvania. See, C's Exs. l, 6 and 14. Further, the County Uniform Tax
Parcel ldentifierNumber in the Deed and RealQuest Report do not match (whcreas those for others
proffered in this case do - sce e.g., C's Exs, 2 nd2b). Compare, C's Exs. I and lb. Moreover, the
information in that Deed indicates that the property being transfened u'as acquired by the tluee male
Keenhold Respondents trading as ("t/a") Boro Coal from the Lessigs in 1982; however, this is
inconsistent with the data in the RealQuest.com printout rvhich indicates that none of thc
Respondents ovr'ned the property r.urtil it rvas bought in 2002 by Richard E. Keenhold, Jr. from
Anthony Cortez via an Executor's Deed. 1d. On the other hand, this 2002 acquisition date for the
45 8'h Street property is consistent u'ith Respondents' reprcsentation as to when the propeny was
acquired contained inits March 25,2005 response to EPA's TSCA Subpoena. See,C'sExs. l3and
I 4. Moreover, the record does contain a podion of 1982 Deed from the Lessigs to the three male
Respondents "t/a Borc Coa[" for property on 8'h Street but that Deed also does nol specifical]y
idcntiI the premises being transfened and suggests the transfer prior to it occurred in 1968, u.hich
is inconsistent with the RealQuest Roport. ,Sed. C's Ex. 16.

6'fhis Lease Agreement and all others at issue here appear to consist ofthe same printed fonn
created for or by "Keenhold Associates PTR" inilially in 2001 and subsequently nominally modified
and completcd by hand as necassary to memorialize each individual lease transaction. Each such
lease regardless ofthe spccific premises involved identifies in printed type that the property is being
leased to the tenant by "Keenhold Associoles PTR" as the "Owner." See, C's Exs. 1a, 2a, 3a, 3b,
3c, 4a, and 5a (italics and bold in original).



Lease #2 for 250 Broadwav. Wind Gan. Pennsvlvania

9.

I  l .

7.

8 .

6 . Thc premises identified as 250 fSouth] Broad*.ay, Wind Gap. pennsylvania is a three
bedroom single family residential housing unit built in or about the year 1900. C,s Exs
l a .  l o .  6 . '

At the time relevant hereto (May 1, 2005), Danny A. Keenhold and Richard E. Keenhold,
Jr-, as tenants in common, were the owners of 250 South Broadway. Wind Gap.
Pennsylvania. C's Exs. 2,2b, 14.

On or about May l, 2005, Rcspondent "Keenhold Associates PTR'identifie.d as .the

owner" entered into a one year wrilten Lease Agrcement with a lessee, for the premises
identified as 250 South Broadway, Wind Gap, Pennsylvania (.,Lease #2,'). C's Ex.2a
(italics and bold in original), Complaint ti 28, Answer fl 28.

10.

The pren.rises identified as 403C Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, pennsylvania, is a
resident ial  housing uni t  bui l t  in 1975. C's Exs. 3,3aand,1a.

At the time relevant hereto (March l, 2005), Richard E. Keenfiold, Jr., was the owner of
403-C Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania. C's Exs. 3 and 14.8

On or about March l, 2005, Respondcnt "Keenhold Associates PTR,identified as ,,the

Owner" entered into a one year u'ritten Lease Agreement with a lessee, for the premises
identified as 403C Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania (..Lease #3,'). C's
Ex. 3a (italics and bold in original), Complainr fl 31, Ansvver fl 31.

?All the exhibits provided by Complainant in relation to this property indicates thar the
correct street address lor this property is "250 south Elroadway," not "250 Broadway street" as
indicated in the Complaint. See, C's Exs.2,2a,2b, and 6.

'As proof of Richard E. Keenhold, Jr.'s ownership of this property at the relevant times.
Complainant proffers a Deed dated February 1, 1993 transferring title to the property known as "lor
No. 2 on Subdivision Plan entitled Larnplight Estates" in Chestnuthill l-ownship from the three male
Keenhold Respondents trading as Keenhold Associates (as joinl Grantors) solely to "Richard E.
Keenhold, Jr." (as sole Grantee). C's Bx. 3. This Deed indicates that the Granrors acquired the
propefiy in 1990, which is consistent rvith Respondent Keenhold Associates' representation as to
when the Respondents acquired thc properties known as "403 A-D Lamp Light Estates." see,c's
Ex. 14.



I-eases #s 4 and 5 for 403D Lamn Lisht Estates. Brodheadsville. Pennsvlvania

12. Thc premises identified as 403D Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania is a
residential housing unit buih in 1975. C's Exs. 3b and 7.

13. At the times relevant hereto (May l, 2003 and May l, 2005), Richard E. Keenhcld, Jr.,
r'vas the owner of403D Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania. C's Exs.3
and l4."

14. On or about May 1, 2003, Respondent "Keenhold Associates PTR" identified as "the
Owner" entered into a one vear written Lease Agreement with a lessee, lor the premises
identified as 403D Lamp Light Estares, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania ("Lease #4"). Ct's
Ex. 3b (italics and bold in original); Complaint U 34, Answer tf 34.

15. On or about May 1, 2005. Respondent "Keenhold Associates PTR" identified as "the
Owner" entered into a one year written Lease Agreement with a lessee, lbr the premises
identified as 403D Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania ("Lease #5"), C's
Ex. 3c (italics and bold in original), Complaint !l 37, Ansrver fl 37.r0

Leabe # 6 for 606-608 Northamoton Street. Easton. Pennsvlvania

16. The premises identified as 606-608 Northampton Strcet, Easton. Pennsylvania is a
resident ial  housing uni t  bui l t  in 1920.rr  C's Exs. 4 and.6.

17. At the time relcvant hereto (August 25, 2004), "Richard E. Keenhold. Jr., Richard E.

'Sce footnote 8 above.

LoThe printed portion ofthe Lease Agreement dates it as 2001, but the handwritten notation
suggests it was executed in 2005. C's Ex. 3c.

11ln their unsworn Ansrver, Respondents denied the allegation in the Complaint that this
property was "target housing" covered by the Disclosure Rule.and specifically alleged that it is not
"a residence" and lberelbre not subject to such Rule. Complaint,l] 40; Answer fln20-24,40-42.
However, the Deed for the property describes it as a "double three story brick d$'elling house." See,
C's tx. 4. Moreover, the Lease Agreement entered into for the properly by Keenhold Associates on
August 25,2004 explicitly states that the pren.rises are being leased "for RESIDENTIAL USE
ONLY," that it comes u'ith a range and refrigerator, and that "All appliances Grill [undecipherablel
system etc Belong to Landlord." C's Ex, 4 (capitals and bold in original). Nothing in the Lease
indicates that the property rvas intended to be occupied for any purpose other than as a residence,
Respondents were specifically given the opportunity in the Prehearing Order to provide evidence in
support oftheir claim that this property was not a residential dwelling, but as indicated abovc chosc
nol to submil  such evidence.



18.

Keenhold, Sr., and Danny Keenhold, co-padners trading as Keenhold Associates," were
tlie owners of the 606-608 North Hampton Strect, Easton, Pennsylvania premises. C's
Fx .  4 .

On or about August 25, 2004, Responde nl"Keenhold Associates PTR'' idenrified as "the
Owner" entered into a one year written Lease Agreement with a lessee. for the premises
identified as 606-608 No(hampton Street, Easton, Pennsylvania ("Lease #6"), C's Ex. 4a
(italics and bold in original).

Leasc #7 for Lot 29 Hill Top Acres Saylorsburg, Penns-vlvanin

19. The premises identified as Lot 29 Hill Top Acres. Saylorsburg, Pennsylvania contains a 5
room. I % bath. "modular home" built in 1968. C's Exs. 5a. 5 and 7a.

At the time relevant hereto (April l, 2003), "Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., Richard L,.
Keenhold, Jr., and Danny A. Keenhold, t/a Keenhold Associates." were the orvners of the
Lo1 29 Hill Top Acres, Saylorsburg. Pennsylvalria premises- C's Exs. 5,7,7a,14.

On or about April i, 2003, Respondent "1(ee nhold Associates PIIR" identified as "the
Owner" enleted. into a one year written Lease Agreement with a lessee, lbr the premises
identified as Lot 29 Ili.ll 

-I'op 
Acres, Saylorsburg, Pennsylvania l"Lease #7".1. C's .Lx. 5a

l i ta l ics and bold in or ig inal . l .  Complaint  T 41. Answer I  43,

Resnondents' Lessor Violations

For the purposes ofthe Disclosure Rule, the term "target housing" mcans "any housing
constructed pr ior to 1978." 42 U.S.C. g a851b(27);  40 C.F.R. $ 745.103.

Each of the six properties at issue in this proceeding are "target housing" within the
meaning of 42 U.S.C. $ 4851b(27) and 40 C.F.R. $ 745,103,

The Disclosure Rule provides in pertinent part that:

(b) Lcssor requirements.r2 Each contract to lease target housing shall include. as
an attachment or wilhin the contract, the follou'ing elements, in the language of
the contract (e.g., English, Spanish):

uFor the purposes ofthe Disclosure Rule, "Lessor" is defined as "any entity that offers target
housing for lease, rcnt or sublease, including but not limited to individuals [and] partnerships" and
"Owner" is defined as "any entity that has legal title to target housing, including but not limited to
individuals [and] partnerships." 40 C.F.R, $ 145.103. Owners of propefty become Lessors,
burdened by the obligations ni the Disclosure Rule, upon entering into lease transactions for their
property. See, Harpoon Partnership, l2 E.A.D. 182 (EAB 2005).

20.

2t .

22.

23.

.J,1



(l) A Lead Warning Statement rvith thc following language:

Housing built before 1978 may contain lead-based paint. Lead liom paint, paint

chips, and dust can pose health hazards ifnot managed properly. Lead exposure ts
especially harmful to young children and pregnant women. Before renting pre-
1978 housing, lessors must disclose the presence of lead-based paint and/or lead-
based paint hazards in the dwelling. Lessees must also receive a federally
approved pamphlet on lead poisoning prevention.

(2) A statement by the lessor disclosing the presence ofknown lead-based paint

and/or lead-based paint hazards in the target housing being leased or indicaling no
knou,ledge of the presence of lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards
The lessor shall also disclose any additional inlormation available concerning the
knor'vn lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards, such as the basis for thc
determination that lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards exist, the
location of the lead-based paint andior lead-based paint hazards. and the condition

, of  the painted sur laces.

(3) A list ofany records or reporls availabie to the lessor pertaining tc lead-based
paint and"/or lead-based paint hazards in the housing that have been provided to

the lessec. lf no such records or rcports are available, the lessor shall so indicale.

(4) A statement by the lessee affirming receipt ofthe information set out in
paragraphs (b)(2) and (b)(3) ofthis section and the lead hazard information
pamphlet required under 15 U.S.C. 2696.

40  C .F .R .  $  745 .113 (bX l ) - ( 4 t  .

25. As alleged in Counts 1-7 of the Complaint, a "Lead Warning Statement," containing the

language set forth in, and required by, 40 C.F,R. $ 745.113(bX1), was neither attached to,

nor included within, each oflhe seven lease transactions (Leases 1-7). Complaint Jf 47,

Answer t f  47.

26. As alleged in Counts 8-14 ofthe Complaint, a Statement disclosing the presence of

known lead-based paint as required by 40 C.F.R. $ 745,1 l3(bX2), was neither attached to.

nor included within, each of the seven lease lransactions (Leases 1-7). Complaint'!l 52'
Answer I  52.

2'7 . As alleged in Counls 1 5-2 I o f the Complaint, a list of available records and report
pertaining to lead-bascd paint as required by 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(bX3), r'vas neither

attached to, nor included within, each ofthe seven lease transactions (Leases 1-7).

Complaint tl 57, Ansu'et fl 57.



28. As alleged in Cor.nts 22-28 of the Complaint, a Statement of the lessee affirming receipt
of lead hazard information pamphlet as required by 40 C.F.R. g 745. I l3(b)(4), was
neither attached to, nor included within, each of the seven lease transactions (Leases l-7).
ComplainL t l  62. Answer I 62.

The failure ofthe respective Lessors Io include the four afbrementioned statemenls and/or
lists in each of the seven lease transactions as required 40 C.F.R. 0 745.113(b) constitutes
28 violations ofSection 1018(bX5) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. 0 4852d(bx5), and Section 409
olTSCA, 15 U.S.C. Q 2689.

'fherefore, the following Respondcnts are found liable as follor.r's:

Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., as the sole owner/lessor of the premises
identified as 45 8th Street, Wind Gap, Pennsylvania, is found liable for four
violations committed in connection with Lease #1 relating to that propeny;

Respondents Richard E, Keenhold Jr. and Danny Kccnhold. as the joint
owners/lessors of the premises identified as 250 South Broadway, Wind Gap,
Pennsylvania. are found jointly and severally liable for fbur violations committed
in connection with Lease #2 relating to that property;

Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., as the sole owner/lessor of the premises
identified as 403C l.amp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania, is found
liable for four violations committed in connection with Lease #3 relatinq to that
propefly;

Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., as the sole owner/lessor ofthe premises
identified as 403D Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania, is ibund
liable for eight violations committed in connection u'ith Leases #,1 and #5 relating
to that property;

Respondents Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., Richard E. Keenhold, Sr,, and Danny
Keenhold, co-partners Va Respondent Keenhold Associates, as the co-
or.vners/lessors of the premises identified as 606-608 Northampton Street, Easton.
Pennsylvania. are foundjointly and severally liable for the four violations
committed in connection with Lease #6 relating to that property;

Respondents Richard Keenhold, Jr., Richard Keenhold, Sr., and Danny Keenhold
t/a Respondent Keenhrild Associates, as the co-owners/lessors of the premises
identilied as Lot 29 Hill lop Acres, Sayiorsburg, Pennsylvania, are found jointly
and severally liable for the four violations committed in connection with Lease #7
relating to that property; and

C.

1 0

30.

B.
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Respondent Rosalie Keenhold, being found to not be an oraner/lessor individually
or with others ofany ofthe properties at issue at the time the subject leases
(Leascs # 1-7) w-ere entered into. is found no1 liable on anv count of violation.

At all times rele'ant hereto, Respondent Kee'hold Associates was a pennsy,lvania
partpership with the individual three male Respondents - Richard E. Keenholcl, Jr.,
Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., and Danny Keenhold. as co-partners. See, C's Exs. 3, 15 and
16 .

"Richard E. Kecnhold,.Ir., Richard E. Keenhold. Sr., and Dannl Keenhold [co-partners]
trading as for t/a] Keenhold Associates" were the named lessors/or.l,ners of the two
premises identified herein as 606-608 Northampton Easton, pennsylvania and L.ot 29 IIill
Top Acres, Saylorsburg, Pemsylvania at the time relevant hereto. See, C's Exs. 4 and 5.

A Keenhold Associates parbrer, Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., is the individual
named lcssor/owner of the three premises identified as.l5 B,h Street Wind Gap,
Pennsyl'ania and 403C and 403D I-amp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, pennsylvania, as
well as the co-owner with Keenhold Assooiates co-par1ner, Danny Keenliold, of lhe
premises identified as 250 South Broadway, Wind Gap, permslilyanlu, at the times
relevant hereto. C's Exs. 1b, 2, and 3.

The evidence ofrecord indicates that Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr. has
individually traded as "Keenhold Associates" or is identified as the "ovrner" ofKeenhold
Associates. Sae, C's Exs. 2, 8.

Each of thc leases at issue identified the parties thereto as the Tenant and,,Keenhold
Associntes PTR" as lhe "Owner." See, C's Exs. la. 2a, 3a; 3b. 3c, 4a, and 5a (italics and
bold in original).

The record evidences suggests that thc Respondent Richard Kecnhold. Ji. mav have
(alone) signed all the various lease asreements at issue on behalf of ,,Keenhold

Associates, Pf R" as "Orvner." C's ixs. 15 and 16,

The Disclosure Rule at 40 C.F.R. $ 745.I 15 providcs that "Each Agent shall . . .ensure
that the seller or lessor has performed all activities requircd under $ . . . 745.113. or
personally ensure compliance rvith the requirements of $ . . . 745.1i3.

For the purposes of the Disclosure.Rule, "Agent" means "any party *-ho enters into a
contract lrith a seller or lessor . .. for the purposes ofselling or leasing target housing.,'
40 C.F.R. $ 745.103 (emphasis added);  C's Ex, 20.

31.

J 4 .

35.

36 ,

33 .

1,7

38.
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39.

40.

41 .

It is black letter law tl.rat "there must be at least two [different] parties to a contract."
Restatement (Second) of Contracts, $ 9 (1981). See also,e.g., Llnited Stotes v. Alaska
S. S. Cb.: 491 F.2d 1141, ll54 (9th Cir. 1974)(one cannor conrract with himselt).

Thus, Respondents "Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., Richard E. Keenhold, Sr.. and Danny
Keenhold trading as Keenhold Associates" as the lessors of the tr','o premises identified
as 606-608 Northampton Easton, Pennsylvania and Lot 29 Hill Top Acres, Saylorsburg,
Pennsylvania, could not contract with themselves as "Keenhold Associates" to act as an
"agent" in regard to those same properties.

A contract may be formed between a partner and a partnership, or between two or more
persons acting as a unit and one or more but fewcr than all ofthese persons acting singl)r
or with other persons. Restatement (Second) of Contracts, $ 1 1 ; I -3 Corbin on Contracts
$ 3.1. The record, however" is void ofany cvidence ofany contract between any of the
Respondents as lessors on thc one hand and Keenliold Associates as "agent" on the other
for the purposes ofleasing the six subject properties.lr See, C's Ex. l5 and l6 (indicating
by the response "N/A" that there is no partnership and/or managenent agreement among
or bett'een the individual Respondents and Respondenl Keenhold Associates)- Therefore,
there is also no basis to concludc that Keenhold Associates acted as an "agent" in regard
to the properties at 45 8ih Street, 403C and 403D Lamp Lighr EsraLes, and 250 South
Broadw'ay.

Therefore, Respondent Keenhold Associatcs is found not liable as an Agenl under 40
C.F,R. $ 7a5.118(e) on Counts 1A-28A of the Complaint for failing to ensure thar the
Respondent Lessors performed the lead-paint disclosure activities required ofthem undcr
40 C.F.R. $ 745.i18(e) or performing such activiries in connection with Leases 1-7 itself.

DETERMINATION OF CIVIL PENALTY AMOLINT

Section 22. I 7(c) of the Consolidated Rules of Practice provides in pertinent part that
upon issuing a default "[t]he reliefproposed in the complaint. . . shall be ordered unless
the rcquesled reliefis clearly inconsistent rvith the record ofthe proceeding or the Act."
40 C.F.R,$ 22.11(c).

Section I 01 8 of the Residential l.ead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act of 1992, 42
U S.C. $ 4852d, and the Disclosr-rre Rule,40 C.F.R. Part 745, Subpart [r, authorizes the

13In fact, the seven lease agreements w-herein "Keenhold Associates, PTR" is repeatedly
identified as "the Owner" ofthe property directly contradict the allegation that Keenhold Associates
rvas acting in the capacity ofan Agent in regard thereto and instead suggest that the Respondents
were acting in their capacities as owners/lessors at the time the leases were entered into and merely
"trading as" Kceniold Associates rvhile doing so.

n . 1

+  ! -

44.
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assessment of a civil penalty under 16 of TSCA, 15 U.S.C. l) 2615, of up to $ 1 1,000 for

each violation as adjusted by the Civil Monetarf Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule, 40

C.F.R. Part  19,

Section 16(a)(2)(B) of TSCA, 15 U.S.C. $ 26lS(aX2XB), requires that the follorving

factors be considered in deternrining the amount ofanl' penalty assessed under SecLion

16: the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the violation or violations and, with

respect to the violator, ability tC pay, eI'fect on ability to continue to do business, any

history ofprior such violations, the degree ofculpability, and other such matters asjustice

may requirc.

EPA has issued guidelines for penalties under TSCA titled "Section i018 - Disclosure

Rule Enforcement Response Policy," dated February 2000. C's Ex. 22.

I{aving lbund that Respondents Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., Richard E. Keenhold, Jr. and

Danny Keenhold. individually, jointly, and/or in certain instances jointly while "trading

as Respondent Keenhold Associates," violated TSCA in a total of 28 instances, I have

determined that the aggregate penalty of$20,755 proposed in the Complaint, is the

appropriate civil penalty to be assessed against the I{espondents in that it is neither

clearly inconsistent with the record of thc proceeding nor clearly inconsistent with the

Act.ro

In doing so, I have taken into account thc nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the

violations and, with respect to the Respondents, the ability to pay, effect on ability to

continuc to do business, any history ofprior such violations, the degree of culpability, and

other such matters asjustioe may require, rvhich are all ofthe factors identified by Section

16(a)(2)(B), 15 U.S.C. $ 2615(a)(2). I have also considered the above referenced

suidel ines.r5

laExcept in regard to Counts 616A,717A, 13ll3A, 14lI4A,20120A,21/21A.27 /27 A and

28/284 where the Complaint identified Keenhold Associates as both the lessor and agent of the

subject premises, EPA proposed that the single penalty it calculated for each count ofviolalion based

upon its circumstance and extent, elc,, be imposed against the lessor and agent "jointly and

severally." See, Complaint at 20. Thus, there is no reason to reduce the proposed penalty in light

of Respondent Keenhold Associates being found not liable in the capacity of an "agent" for the

violations lbund herein. In addition, follou,ing Agency Guidance, lor the purposes oflhe Complaint,

EPA rounded off its aggregate proposed penalty to the nearest unit of $100 Le. to $20,800. See,

Cornplaint a|21, n. 1. In assessing rhe penalties herein among the various Respondents and the

numerous counts, for the sake of clarity, I have not rounded off the penalties .

rsT'he Prehearing Order issued in this case gave Respondents the opportunitij:::*t: 
i

46.

48 .
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49.

50 .

In assessing this penalty, I find persuasive the rationale for the calculation of the proposed
penalties set forth in the Complaint filed in this proceeding and incorporate such rationale
by relerence into this Order.

Therefore, the following penalties are imposed against the Respondenrs found liable
hcrein:

Respondent Richard E, Keenhold, Jr.. as the lesscr ofthe premises identified as
45 8"'Street, Wind Gap, Pennsylvania, is individually assessed for the violations
found in relation to that propedy and Lease #1 as follows:

Count i  (v iolat ion of  40 C.F,R. $ 745.1l3(bX1)) -  $1 ,547
Count 8 (violation of 40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX2)) - $ 174
Count 15 (v iolat ion of  40 C.F.R. $ 745 113(b)(3))  -  $ 258
Co\nl22 (v iolat ion of  40 C.F.R. g 745.1l3(bX4)) -  $ 516

Iotal: $3,095

Respondent Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., as the lessor ofthe premises identified as
403C Lamp I-iglrt Estates. Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania, is individually assessed
for the violations found in relation to that propeny and Lease # 3 pcnaltics as
fo I lo r'r s:

C.

Count 3 (violat ion of 40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX1) - $1,547
Count 10 (violat ion of 40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX2)) - $ 771
Count l7 (violat ion of 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(bX3)) - $ 258
Count24(v io la l iono f40C.F.R.$745.113(bX4)  -  $  516

1'otal: $3,095

Respondcnt Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., as the lessor of the premises identified as
403D Lamp Light Estates, Brodheadsville, Pennsylvania, is individually assessed
for the violations lbund in relation to that property and Leases #s 4 and 5 penalties
as [o] lows:

15 ( . - . con t i nued )

statement explaining why the proposed penalty should be reduced or eliminated, and pa(icularly to
submit any documentation which would evidence inability to pay the proposed penalty. See,
Prehearing Order dated September 1.0,2007. As indicated above, to date Respondents have chosen
not to respond to that Order. The mere fact that the partnership. Respondent Keenhold Associates,
under which the individual male Keenhold Respondents trade, has filed lbr bankruplcy under
Chapter I I does not by itselfevidence to me its inability or that ofthe individual Respondents to pay
the penalty amount imposed herein, especially since such bankruptcy provides for reorganization
rather than liquidation ofa business' assets so that the business continues existing successfully.

B.
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Count 4 (violation of 40 C.F.R. g
Count 5 (violation of 40 C.F,R. $
Count l1 (violation of 40 C.F.R.
Count l2 (violation of 40 C.!-.R.
Count 1 8 (violation of 40 C.F.R.
Count 19 (violation of 40 C.F.R.
Count 25 (violation of 40 C.F.R.
Count 26 (violation of 40 C.F,R.

745.113(bX1))
74s.113(bX1)
$ 745.113(bX2))
$ 745.1r3(bX2)
$ 74s l l3(bx-3))
$ 74s.113(bX3))
$ 745.1 l3(bX4)
$ 745.i r3(bX4)

-  $1 ,320
-  $1 ,s47
-  $660
-  s774
-  $220
-  $258
-  $440
-  $  s l6
Total: $5,735

$r 1.925

T-\ Respondents Richard E. Kecnhokl Jr. and Danny Keenhold, as tenants in
common/lessors of lhe premises identified as 250 South Broadwal,, Wind Gap,
Pennsl'lvania, are jointly and severally assessed for the violations found in relation
to that propertv and Lease # 2 penalties as follows:

Count 2 (r, iolat ion of 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(bXl)) - $1,547
Count 9 (violat ion of 40 C.F.R. g 745.1i3(bx2) - $ 774
Count i6 (violat ion of40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX3) - $ 258
Count 23 (violat ion of 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(b)(4) - $ 516

Total: 53.095

Kcenhold. jointly and severallv, - 33.095

E. Respondents Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., and Danny
Keenhold t/a Respondcnt Keenhold Associates. as the co-otvners of the
premises identified as 606-608 Northampton Street, Eastcn, Pennsylvania, are
jointly and ser.erally assessed lbr the violations found in relation to that property
and Lease # 6 penalties as follows:

Count 6 (v iolat ion of  40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX1) -  $1,54?
Count 13 (v iolat ion of  40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(b)(2) -  I ,  714
Count 20 (v iolat : ion of  40 C. l - .R. S 715.1t3(bX3)) -  $ 258
Count 27 (v iolat ion of  40 C.F.R. g 745.113(bX4) -  $ 516

1'otal: $3,095

F. Respondents Richard E. Keenhold, Jr., Richard E. Keenhold, Sr., and Danny
Keenhold t/a Respondent Keenhold Associates, as the co-owners of the
premises identilled as Lot 29 Hill Top Acres, Saylorsburg, Pennsyh,ania, are

1 5



Total Penaltles Imnoscd Asainst Respondents Richard E. Keenhold. Jr.. Richard E,
Kcenhold. Sr.. and Dannv Keenhold t/a Resrrondcnt Kcenhold Associates, joinfly and
severally - $5.735.

jointl,v and sevcrally assessed for the violations found in relation to that property
and Lease # 7 penalties as follou.s:

Count 7 (r, iolat ion of 40 C.F.R. $ 745.113(bX1)) - $1,320
Count 14 (violat ion of40 C].F.R. $ 745.i  l3(bX2)) - $ 660
Count 21 (violation of 40 C.F.li.. { 745.113(bX3) - $ 220
Counl 28 (violat ion of 40 C.F,R. g 745.113(bX4)) - $ 440

Total: S2.640

ORDER

1. For failing to comply wilh the Prehearing order and order to show cause, as enumerated
above, Respondents are hereby found in DEFAULT.

2 Rcspondent Richard E. Keenhold.  Jr .  indiv idual ly is found l iablc lor l6 v iolal ions ofsecrron
409 of I'oxic Substanccs control Act, 15 u.s.c. g 2689, Section 1018 of the Residenrial Lead-
Based Paint Hazard Reduction Acr of 1992, 42 u.s.c. g 4852d; and the Federal rcgulations
promulgated thereunder, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part745, Subpart F, and is assessed a civil
administrative penaltl, in the amount of $11,925 therefor.

3. Respondents Richard E. Keenhold,.Ir. and Danny Keenhold are found jointly and severally
liable for four (4) violations ofsection 409 ofroxic substances Control Act, 15 u.s.c, $ 2689,
Section 1018 ofthc Residential Lead-tsased Paint llazard Reduction Act of 1992.42 U.S.C. g
4852d, and the Federal regulations promulgated thereunder, codified at 40 C,F.R, partj45,
Subpart F, and are jointly and severally assessed a civil administrative penalty in the amount of
$3,095 therefor.

4.  Respondents Richard L.  Keenhold.  Jr . .  Richard L. .  Kecnlrold.  Sr. ,  and Darury Keeniold.  i :o-
partners, t/a Respondent Keenhold Associates are found jointly and severally liable for eight (8)
violations ofSection 409 ofToxic Substances Conrrol Act, l5 U.S.C. $ 2689, Section l0l8.of
the Residential Lead-Based Painr Hazard Reduction Act of 1992,42 U.S.C. $ 4852d, and the
Federal regulations promulgated thcreunder, codified at 40 C.F.I{. Parti45, Subparr F. and are
jointly and severally assessed a civil administrative penalty in the amount of $5,735 therefor.

5. Respondent Rosalic Keenhold is found not to be liable in this action,

6. Payment of thc full amount of these civil penalties shall be made within thirty (30) days alier

L 6



tlris Initial Decision becomes a final order under 40 c.F.R. $ 22.zi (.c), as provided belorv.
Payment shall be made by submitting a certif-led or cashier's checks in the amount of the penaltics
assessed, payable to "Treasurer, United States ofAmerica.', and mailed to:

'U.S. Dnvironmental protection Agenc),
Fines and Penalties, Cincinnati Finance Center

P.O.Box97907'/
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

7 A transmittal letter identif,ving the subject case and EpA docket number as well as
Respondents' name and address, must accompany the checks.

8. If Respondents fail to pay the penalties within the prescribcd sraturory period after entry o1'
this order, interest on the penalties may be assessed. see, 3 1 u.s.c. $ 3717; 40 c,F.R. $ 13.1 L

9. Pursuanl to 40 c.F.R. $22.27(c), this Initial Decision shall become a final order forty-five (45)
days after its service upon the parties and without further proceedings unless (l) a part1, moves to
reopen the hearing w-ithin twenty (20) days after service of this Initial Decision, puisuant to 40

9 
e n. s 22.28@); (2) zrn appeal ro the Environmental Appeals Board is taken within thiny (30)

days after this Initial Decision is served upon the parlies; or (3) the Environmental Appeais
Board elects, upon its orvn initiative, to review this Initial Decision, pursuant to +o c.r.n g
22.30rb).

Chief Administrative Law Judge

Dated: December 4,2001
Washington, D.C.

Susan L. Biro
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Re spondent  s
D o c k e t  N o .  T S C A - 0 3  - 2 0 0 7  - O O A 4

CERTTFICATF]  OF S t rRI / ICE

I  cert i fy t .hat t .he foregoing Defaul t  Order And fni t ia l
Dec i s ion ,  daced  December  4 ,  20A7 ,  was  sen t  t h i s  day  i n  t he
fol lowing manner to the addressees l i -sted below.

Maria
Lega I

Da ted :  December  4 ,  ZOOT

Original  And One Copy By pouch Maif  To:

Lydia A. cuy
Regional Hearing Cferk (3Rco 0 )
U .  S .  EPA
1650  A rch  S t ree t
Ph i I ade lph ia ,  pA  191  03 -2A2g

Copy By Pouch Mai l  To:

Donze t ta  Thomas ,  Esqu i  re
Assistant Regional Counsef (3RC3 O )

1650  A rch  S t ree t
Ph i l ade lph ia ,  pA  19103 -2029

Copy  By  Cer t i f i ed  Ma i f  Re tu rn  Rece ip t  To :

R lcha rd  E .  Keenho ld ,  J r .
Keenhold Associates
215  -A  Wes t  8 rh  S t ree t
w ind  Gap ,  pA  18091

S La f  f  Ass i s tan t
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